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The Lost Trails of
Paul d’Allmen

Almost killed in World War I, an unsung Swiss came to 
map the cross-country ski trails of the Laurentian Mountains.

By Joseph Graham

Herman “Jackrabbit” 
Smith-Johannsen is 
synonymous with 
cross-country skiing 
in Quebec. In the 

early 1930s, he began to promote and 
cut the famous trans-Laurentian  
Maple Leaf Trail, uniting the ski 
centers of dozens of hotel resorts. 
His log shows that he covered close 
to 1,000 miles every winter during 

the first three years of the 1940s. 
Jackrabbit was also the expert be-
hind the ubiquitous Skiers’ Book, a 
trail guide funded by Sweet Caporal 
cigarettes. He died in 1987 at the age 
of 111, hailed as a national ski legend. 

But another pioneer, the Swiss 
immigrant Paul Von Allmen, also 
cut, marked and mapped many trails 
in the Laurentians during the same 
time period—and he started before 

laurentian ski museum

In 1931, D'Allmen (at left, skiing 
in the Laurentians) created his 
first trail map (opposite page). 
Called "Laurentians Ski Map," it 
measured just shy of four feet 
square and was painstakingly 
drawn in India ink. The map 
covered 300 square miles of 
terrain and countless miles of 
ski trails. It also included 10 re-
sorts, such as Chalet Cochand 
(upper center, north of Ste-
Marguerite) and the Laurentian 
Lodge Club (lower right, just 
south of Shawbridge). The 
famed Maple Leaf Trail, cut 
and popularized by Jackrabbit 
Smith-Johannsen, had not yet 
been conceived.

Johannsen conceived the Maple Leaf 
Trail in 1932. Von Allmen’s maps sur-
vive, but for the most part his trails 
have disappeared beneath the de-
veloping communities between Ste. 
Anne des Lacs and St. Sauveur, or 
have been absorbed into other trail 
systems and lost their identity. 

Raised in Switzerland, Von All-
men moved to Montreal in 1910, at 
the age of 16, to work as a butler for 

(continued on page 20)
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In the late 1920s, like many Mon-
trealers, the d’Allmen family started 
spending summers in the Lauren-
tians, renting rooms in rustic farm-
houses. Paul would work in the city 
during the week and take the train 
to join his family on the weekend. 
As he advanced in his employment 
at Montreal Light Heat and Power 
Consolidated, they found a simple 
vacation chalet in Ste. Anne des 
Lacs, and soon came north in the 
winter also. Having grown up in 
the mountains of Switzerland, Paul 
was able to find stability on skis de-

the wealthy Drummond family. In 
1915, he enlisted in the 2nd University 
Company of McGill. He changed his 
name to d’Allmen—a surname with 
no connection to Germany—and 
went to Europe to fight in World 
War I. Although reported killed on 
the first day of the Second Battle of 
Passchendaele on October 30, 1916, 
he survived with serious disabilities, 

spite his physical challenges, and he 
found peace while cutting through 
maple stands or crossing a snow-
covered field. He soon began to map 
the trails he travelled. 

In 1931 he produced his first map, 
calling it simply “Laurentians Ski 
Map.” Carefully drawn in India ink 
on a sheet a bit shy of four square 
feet, representing about 300 square 
miles, it shows Ste. Agathe in the 
top left corner (northwest limit), 
Mont Rolland dead center, and en-
compasses the area south of Lesage 
in the bottom right (southeast limit). 
It includes Ste. Marguerite du Lac 
Masson, Ste. Adèle, St. Sauveur, Mo-
rin Heights, Shawbridge, Val Morin, 
Val David, Ste. Marguerite Station 
and St. Hippolyte, complete with 
the roads, railways, contours, miles 
of ski trails with their names, and 

lost or destroyed. Some of the maps 
were hung in railroad stations to 
guide skiers, and one was copied 
and made into a placemat for St. 
Sauveur's famous Pub. Many of the 
maps are signed “Paul d’Allmen, 
Chairman of the Trails Committee 
of the Laurentian Zone.”

D’Allmen used a compass and 
an altimeter, basing the maps on 
aerial and geodetic information. He 
walked and skied trails, marking 
and cutting, and in the process left 
documents of a very different time, 

(continued from page 18)

about ten resorts. The names on the 
map include Lover’s Leap, Devil’s 
Jump, Côte du Sac à Dos and Trail 
of the Fallen Women, a name that 
seems associated with nothing more 
than a couple of amusing spills.

Skiers would recognize most of 
the resort names, including Chalet 
Cochand, Laurentian Lodge Club, 
Mont Tremblant and Bellevue. 
While there is a trail called Johan-
sen [sic], and the trails interconnect 
right across the territory, there is not 
yet any trail called the Maple Leaf. 
That would come later, as d’Allmen 
would draw more than 40 maps 
of the region over several decades. 
His son, Fred, still a resident of Ste. 
Anne des Lacs, has a total of 46 
maps, mostly originals, and a total 
of 64 maps has been found to date. 
There are likely others that were 

Some of the maps were hung in  
local railroad stations to guide skiers,  
while this map of St. Sauveur (below), 
including the lifts and alpine trails of 
Hill 70, became the placemat pattern 
for the Pub.

D'Allmen would eventually draw 
more than 40 maps of the region over 
four decades, including this detailed 
map of Shawbridge. It delineates 
marked cross-country trails in pink 
and alpine trails in green.

including a large metal plate that 
replaced part of his skull. He made 
the best of his situation, teaching 
himself to walk with crutches and 
finding healing through yoga and 
the Laurentian woods. He knew 
his survival was a miracle, and that 
he had to look after himself with 
great care. Those who knew him 
marvelled at his need to meditate, 
and knew better than to disturb him 
when he retreated into a trance-like 
state in order to preserve his health. 
In 1926, he married, and he and his 
wife Rhoda soon had two sons.

(continued on page22)
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commercialization. His son, having 
inherited a bit of his artistic flare, 
illustrated some of the maps with 
trains, busses and skiers. Today Fred 
and his wife are the custodians of 
this unique skiing heritage collec-
tion, and they have donated some of 
the original maps to the Laurentian 
Ski Museum.

Paul d’Allmen died on May 3, 

when people skied through pristine 
woodlands and open fields as much 
for transportation as recreation. One 
of his maps shows St. Sauveur with 
every street and house marked by 
the owners’ names. 

Unlike his contemporary, Jack-
rabbit Johannsen, his maps were 
not a business venture but a pas-
sion, and he did not encourage their 

Restoring the Maps
The project started three years ago, 
when Fred d’Allmen opened a closet 
and took out a few rolls containing 
44 maps drawn by his father. Span-
ning the period from 1931 to the mid-
1970s, the maps offered extremely 
detailed drawings of the ski hills, lifts, 
trails, shelters and resorts of the Lau-
rentians. “It’s a pure treasure,” says 
Pierre Dumas, an hydraulic engineer 
and avid ski historian who’s compiling 
information on more than 400 cur-
rent and former ski hills across the 
province of Quebec. 

As a friend of the d’Allmen fam-
ily and volunteer, Dumas set to work 
making high-resolution scans of the 
maps and then using Photoshop 
software to clean, repair and colorize 
the resulting images. Since then, 20 
additional maps have been found—
including two more in Fred's attic, and 
others owned by individuals or insti-
tutions. These were mostly copies 
that needed intensive restoration.

Twenty-six of the maps cover the 
Laurentian Mountains. Fred donated 
the rights to the digital versions to the 
Laurentian Ski Museum, which can 
print the maps, show them in exhibits 
and sell copies. 

Another 10 maps cover the huge 
Seigniory Club property, a popular 
location for winter sports in the 
early 1930s, and the area around the 
Château Montebello, now a Fairmont 
hotel. The rights to these maps were 
donated to the local Louis-Joseph 
Papineau Historical Society.

Upper left: This map offers a detailed view 
of ski terrain of St. Sauveur des Monts 
Left: D'Allmen and his son, Fred,  purchase 
tickets at the Canadian Northern Railway 
terminal in the late 1930s. 

1981, and was inducted posthumous-
ly into the Laurentian Ski Museum’s 
Hall of Fame in 2013. 

Joseph Graham is an amateur historian  
who focuses on the history of the  
Laurentian Mountains of Quebec. He is 
also the son of Patricia Paré, Canadian 
ski champion from the 1930s and the first 
woman in Canada to teach skiing.
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